# Reprint

# as at 1 April 2008

# Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998

1998 No 4 Private Act 18 December 1998 Date of assent

Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998: repealed, on 1 April 2008, by section 44 of the Farmers' Mutual Group Act 2007 (2007 No 1 (P)).

# **Contents**

		Page
	Title	2
	Preamble	2
1	Short Title	3
2	Interpretation	3
3	Meaning of surplus	5
4	Act to bind the Crown	6
5	Objects	6
6	Applications to be made by board	6
7	Application to register holding company as co-operative company	8
8	Procedure prior to application	8
9	Approval of scheme	9
10	Reconstitution of Association	10

Note
Changes authorised by section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 have been made in this eprint.

A general outline of these changes is set out in the notes at the end of this eprint, together with other explanatory material about this eprint.

	Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998	April 2008
11	Structure of general insurance company	11
12	Structure of holding company	12
13	Application of Companies Act 1993 and other Acts	13
14	Special redeemable shares	13
15	Ceasing of application of this Act to holding company	14
16	Change of name of Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited	14
	and transfer of general insurance business to general	
	insurance company	
17	Consequential provisions on reconstitution of Association	on 15
18	Effect of this Act	17
19	Continuity of legal proceedings	18
20	Books and documents to remain evidence	19
21	Registers	19
22	Continuity of employment	20
23	Private Act	21
	Schedule 1	21
	Application to holding company of Companies Act 1993	
	Schedule 2 Provisions applying to redemption of shares by holding company	22 <b>ng</b>

Reprinted as at

# An Act to provide for-

- (a) The reconstitution of the Farmers' Mutual Insurance Association as a limited liability company under The Companies Act 1993 with the name Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited and as the subsidiary of a company to be incorporated under that Act with the name Farmers' Mutual Group Limited:
- (b) Various related matters

# **Preamble**

# WHEREAS:

- A. The Farmers' Mutual Insurance Association is an association incorporated under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955:
- B. It is expedient in the interests of the members of the Association that—

- (a) The Association is reconstituted as a limited liability company registered under The Companies Act 1993 with the name Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited; and
- (b) The Association is reconstituted as the subsidiary of a holding company registered under The Companies Act 1993 with the name Farmers' Mutual Group Limited; and
- (c) The application of The Companies Act 1993 to the holding company is modified in certain respects; and
- (d) The holding company is authorised to become a co-operative company registered under The Co-operative Companies Act 1996:
- C. The objects of this Act cannot be achieved without the authority of Parliament:

# BE IT THEREFORE ENACTED by the Parliament of New Zealand as follows:

### 1 Short Title

This Act may be cited as the Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998.

# 2 Interpretation

In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,—

**Appointed day** means the date of the certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company referred to in section 10

**Association** means the Farmers' Mutual Insurance Association, an association incorporated under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955

#### Board means.—

- (a) Until the appointed day, a majority of the board of directors of the Association:
- (b) On and after the appointed day, a majority of the board of directors of the holding company:

**Constitution** means the constitution of the holding company or of the general insurance company, as the context requires

**General insurance company** means the Association reconstituted as a company under this Act

**Group** means the Association and its subsidiaries or the holding company and its subsidiaries, as the context requires

Group company means a member of the group

**Holding company** means the company referred to in section 12.

### **Instrument** includes—

- (a) An instrument (other than this Act) of any form or kind that creates, evidences, modifies, or extinguishes rights, interests, or liabilities, or would do so if it or a copy of it were lodged, filed, or registered under any enactment; and
- (b) A judgment, order, or process of a court:

**Instrument by way of security** has the same meaning as in section 2 of The Chattels Transfer Act 1924

Land has the same meaning as in section 2 of The Land Transfer Act 1952

**Liabilities** means liabilities, debts, charges, duties, and obligations of every description (whether present or future, actual or contingent, and whether payable or to be observed or performed in New Zealand or elsewhere)

**Member** means a member of the Association; and includes a person who is a party to a contract of insurance with a subsidiary of the Association

**Property** means property of every kind, whether tangible or intangible, real or personal, corporeal or incorporeal; and includes—

- (a) Choses in action and money:
- (b) Goodwill:
- (c) Rights, interests, and claims of every kind in or to property, whether arising from or accruing under, or created or evidenced by, or the subject of, an instrument or otherwise, and whether liquidated or unliquidated, actual, contingent, or prospective:

**Registrar** means the Registrar of Companies

**Rights** means all rights, powers, privileges, and immunities, whether actual, contingent, or prospective

**Scheme** means the scheme for the reconstitution of the Association as a company and as a subsidiary of the holding company to be effected under this Act

# Security—

- (a) Means a mortgage, charge (whether legal or equitable), debenture, bill of exchange, promissory note, guarantee, indemnity, defeasance, hypothecation, instrument by way of security, lien, pledge, or other security for the payment of money or for the discharge of any other obligation or liability and whether on demand or not, present or future, actual or contingent; and
- (b) Includes an agreement or undertaking to give or execute, whether on demand or not, any of the things specified in paragraph (a):

**Special resolution** means a special resolution passed in the manner prescribed by section 8(2) of The Mutual Insurance Act 1955

**Subsidiary** in relation to the Association, means a subsidiary within the meaning of section 18A of The Mutual Insurance Act 1955

**Terms** and **terms of issue** in relation to a share in a company, mean the rights, limitations, and conditions attaching to the share under the constitution of the company; and includes any amendments to those rights, limitations, and conditions

**Trust** means any trust established by the directors of the Association as settlors for the purpose of holding shares in the holding company

**Undertaking** in relation to the Association, means the property, rights, and liabilities of the Association.

# 3 Meaning of surplus

(1) In this Act, **surplus** in relation to a group company, means the amount of the difference between the assets and liabilities of the company that, after prudent provision for insurance exposures and other contingencies, is certified by the Association's auditors as being a free surplus.

- (2) For the purpose of calculating a surplus as at the appointed day—
  - (a) Future or contingent liabilities may be taken into account at their estimated present value as at that day and not at their nominal or maturity value; and
  - (b) Reliance may be placed on financial information contained in or derived from financial statements prepared as at a date that is not earlier than 2 months before the appointed day for the group as it will be constituted immediately after the appointed day.
- (3) The financial statements referred to in subsection (2) may include prudent projections for matters anticipated to occur between the date of the statements and the appointed day.

#### 4 Act to bind the Crown

This Act binds the Crown and every person whose rights, obligations, or liabilities are affected by this Act.

# 5 Objects

The objects of this Act are to—

- (a) Reconstitute the Farmers' Mutual Insurance Association, at present an association incorporated under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955, as a company under The Companies Act 1993 with the name Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited; and
- (b) Provide for the registration under The Companies Act 1993 of a company with the name **Farmers' Mutual Group Limited** to be its holding company; and
- (c) Modify the application of The Companies Act 1993 to the holding company; and
- (d) Authorise the holding company to become a co-operative company registered under The Co-operative Companies Act 1996.

# 6 Applications to be made by board

(1) The board may deliver to the Registrar applications in respect of the registration under The Companies Act 1993 of the Association as the general insurance company and of the holding company.

- (2) The applications must comply with section 12 of that Act except that.—
  - (a) In the case of the general insurance company, the board may be the applicant on behalf of the holding company; and
  - (b) In the case of the holding company,—
    - (i) The board may be the applicant on behalf of the members who are to receive initial shares in the holding company; or
    - (ii) If the trust and members are to receive initial shares in the holding company under section 12(b)(i), the board may be the applicant on behalf of those members and the trust:
  - (c) The board is not required to name or identify the members individually in the application:
  - (d) Two directors of the Association may sign the applications and any other documents required to accompany them:
  - (e) Subsection (1)(d)(i) of that section does not apply to—
    - (i) The holding company's shares in the general insurance company:
    - (ii) The members' shares and any shares of the trust in the holding company:
  - (f) Subsection (1)(e) of that section does not apply.
- (2) The constitutions of the companies must be the same as the constitutions referred to in the notice to members under section 8 or approved by members under section 9, as the case may be.
- (3) The applications must specify the date on which the board proposes that the scheme take effect, and be accompanied by—
  - (a) A certificate signed by not less than 2 directors of the Association certifying that the requirements of section 8 of this Act have been complied with; and
  - (b) A copy of the resolution of the board referred to in paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 9 or of the special resolution referred to in paragraph (b) of that subsection, as the case may be.

# 7 Application to register holding company as co-operative company

- (1) The board may deliver to the Registrar an application under section 7 of The Co-operative Companies Act 1996 for registration of the holding company as a co-operative company.
- (2) The application may be made either together with the application for registration under section 6 or at any time after the registration of the company under The Companies Act 1993.

# 8 Procedure prior to application

Before making applications under section 6, the board must ensure that—

- (a) Notices have been sent to each member of the Association containing—
  - (i) An explanation of the scheme and an explanation of the proposed constitutions of the general insurance company and of the holding company dealing, in each case, with the matters likely to have material significance to the members in their capacities as members and policyholders:
  - (ii) A statement that members are entitled to obtain a copy of the constitutions from the Association on request:
  - (iii) A statement of the locations at which copies of the constitutions may be inspected by members:
  - (iv) A statement requesting the member to advise the board by a date specified in the statement, being a date not earlier than 30 days after the date on which the statement is sent to the member, whether the member is opposed to the scheme and the adoption of the constitution of the holding company:
  - (v) A statement that if 10% or more of the members advise the board by the date specified in the statement that they oppose the scheme and the adoption of the constitution, a meeting of the members

will be held for the purpose of voting on those matters:

- (vi) A statement that unless 10% of the members advise the board that they oppose the scheme and the adoption of the constitution, the board will make an application to the Registrar under section 6 and that the scheme will proceed:
- (b) Notice of the scheme and of the date on which it is expected to take effect is published in a newspaper circulating daily, except on Sundays, in each province in which members reside and in which the Association carries on business and a copy of the notice is sent to each member:
- (c) The scheme and the constitutions of the general insurance company and the holding company have been approved in accordance with section 9.

# 9 Approval of scheme

For the purposes of section 8(c), the scheme and the constitutions of the general insurance company and the holding company are approved if—

- (a) Fewer than 10% of the members advise the board that they oppose the scheme, and the adoption of the constitution of the holding company and the board approves the scheme and the adoption of the constitutions of both the general insurance company and the holding company; or
- (b) The scheme and the adoption of the constitutions of the general insurance company and the holding company are approved by a special resolution passed at a duly convened meeting of the members.

2For the purposes of subsection (1)(b),—

- (a) Members must have the right to vote in person or by proxy:
- (b) Notice of meeting sent to each member must be accompanied by a form of appointment of a proxy that enables the member to direct the member's proxy how to vote at the meeting.

# 10 Reconstitution of Association

- (1) As soon as practicable after receiving applications that comply with section 6, the Registrar must issue—
  - (a) A certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company with the name **Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited**; and
  - (b) A certificate of incorporation of the the holding company with the name **Farmers' Mutual Group Limited**.
- (2) The certificates must be issued on the later of—
  - (a) The date specified in the applications as the date on which the board proposes that the scheme take effect; and
  - (b) The date on which the applications are received by the Registrar.
- (3) On the date stated in the certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company, the Association ceases to be an association incorporated under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955 and is a company incorporated under The Companies Act 1993.
- (4) The certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company is conclusive evidence—
  - (a) That the requirements of this Act have been complied with; and
  - (b) That, on and after the date stated in the certificate, the Association is a company incorporated under The Companies Act 1993 with the name Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited.
- (5) The certificate of incorporation of the holding company is conclusive evidence—
  - (a) That the requirements of this Act have been complied with; and
  - (b) That, on and after the date stated in the certificate, the company is incorporated under The Companies Act 1993 with the name **Farmers' Mutual Group Limited**.
- (6) Nothing in subsection (4)(b) prevents the general insurance company from changing its name and nothing in subsection (5)(b) prevents the holding company from changing its name.

(7) As soon as practicable after the issue of the certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company, the Registrar must give notice in the *Gazette* stating that the Association has ceased to be an association incorporated under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955 and is a company incorporated under The Companies Act 1993.

# 11 Structure of general insurance company

On the appointed day—

- (a) The subscribed capital of the general insurance company is the lesser of—
  - (i) \$20 million; and
  - (ii) The surplus of the company on that day:
- (b) The subscribed capital of the general insurance company is represented by ordinary voting shares in the general insurance company that are deemed to have been issued to the holding company:
- (c) The holding company is deemed to have provided consideration for the issue of the ordinary voting shares in the general insurance company of an amount equal to the value of the shares in the general insurance company on the appointed day determined as if the shares referred to in paragraph (g) had not then vested in the holding company:
- (d) The constitution of the general insurance company is the constitution of the company that accompanied the application under section 6:
- (e) The directors of the general insurance company are the persons who held office as directors of the Association immediately before the appointed day:
- (f) The directors of the general insurance company hold office on the terms and conditions set out in the constitution of the company:
- (g) The Association's shares in subsidiaries vest in the holding company:
- (h) The consideration for the vesting in the holding company of the shares referred to in paragraph (g)—

- (i) Is an amount equal to the cost of the shares as recorded in the books of account of the Association immediately before the appointed day:
- (ii) Takes the form of a loan by the general insurance company to the holding company repayable on demand

# 12 Structure of holding company

On the appointed day—

- (a) The initial subscribed capital of the holding company is the lesser of—
  - (i) \$20 million; and
  - (ii) The surplus of the company on that day:
- (b) The initial subscribed capital of the holding company is represented by special redeemable shares that are deemed to have been issued,—
  - (i) If the board so resolves before notices are sent to members under section 8, up to half of those shares to the trust and the rest to every person who was a member immediately before the appointed day; or
  - (ii) If subparagraph (i) does not apply, in equal numbers to every person who was a member immediately before the appointed day:
- (c) The holding company is deemed to have received, as consideration for the issue of the shares, the shares in the general insurance company deemed to have been issued to the holding company under section 11(b) at their value on the appointed day determined as if the shares referred to in section 11(g) had not then vested in the holding company:
- (d) The constitution of the holding company is the constitution of the company that accompanied the application under section 6:
- (e) The directors of the holding company are the persons who held office as directors of the Association immediately before the appointed day:

(f) The directors of the holding company hold office on the terms and conditions set out in the constitution of the company.

# 13 Application of Companies Act 1993 and other Acts

- (1) The Companies Act 1993 applies to the general insurance company.
- (2) The Companies Act 1993 applies to the holding company subject to the modifications set out in Schedule 1.
- (3) The provisions of any other Act applying to the conduct of insurance business by the Association immediately before the appointed day continue to apply to the conduct of insurance business by the general insurance company on and after the appointed day.
- (4) Subsection (3) is subject to this Act.

# 14 Special redeemable shares

- (1) Subject to its constitution and to the terms of issue of the shares, the holding company may—
  - (a) Issue shares that are redeemable within the meaning of section 68 of The Companies Act 1993 and that are called **special redeemable shares**; and
  - (b) Pay for the shares redeemed out of the assets of the company.
- (2) Schedule 2 applies to special redeemable shares.
- (3) Nothing in sections 58 to 65 (which relate to the acquisition by a company of its own shares) and sections 69 to 75 (which relate to the redemption of shares) of The Companies Act 1993 apply to special redeemable shares issued under this section.
- (4) Nothing in this section or Schedule 2 limits or affects the power of the holding company to acquire shares under sections 58 to 65 of The Companies Act 1993 or to issue and redeem shares, other than special redeemable shares, under sections 68 to 75 of that Act.

# 15 Ceasing of application of this Act to holding company

- (1) The holding company may resolve by special resolution that this Act ceases to apply to the holding company.
- (2) The board must deliver to the Registrar for registration—
  - (a) A copy of the special resolution; and
  - (b) A copy of a new constitution of the company that takes account of the fact that this Act does not apply to the company.
- (3) This Act ceases to apply to the holding company on the earlier of the following dates:
  - (a) The date stated in any special resolution referred to in subsection (1), being a date not earlier than the date on which the documents referred to in subsection (2) are delivered to the Registrar:
  - (b) The third anniversary of the date of registration of the holding company.
- (4) Nothing in subsection (3) affects—
  - (a) The status of the company; or
  - (b) The rights and obligations of the company; or
  - (c) The validity, effect, or consequences of anything already done under, or effected by, this Act.
- (5) Nothing in subsection (3) affects any special redeemable shares issued before this Act ceases to apply to the holding company. In particular, Schedule 2 continues to apply to those shares.
- (6) Nothing in this section prevents the holding company being registered as a co-operative company under The Cooperative Companies Act 1996.

# 16 Change of name of Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited and transfer of general insurance business to general insurance company

- (1) On the appointed day the name of the subsidiary of the Association called "Farmers' Mutual Insurance Limited" changes to "Former FMI Limited".
- (2) The Registrar must, as soon as practicable, enter the new name of the company on the New Zealand register and issue

- a new certificate of incorporation of the company under its new name.
- (3) If the directors of Former FMI Limited so resolve before the appointed day, on the appointed day or on the first day of the financial year of the holding company commencing after the appointed day (whichever the directors determine), the engagements, assets, and liabilities of Former FMI Limited, other than those relating to its residual life insurance business, vest in and become the engagements, assets, and liabilities of the general insurance company.
- (4) Sections 17 to 21 apply in relation to the engagements, assets, and liabilities that vest in and become those of the general insurance company as if references in those sections to the Association were references to Former FMI Limited.

# 17 Consequential provisions on reconstitution of Association To avoid doubt, on and after the appointed day, the undertaking of the Association vests in the general insurance company and:

- (a) A reference (express or implied) to the Association in any other Act, or in any regulation, order, or notice made or given under any enactment, or in any contract, instrument, register, record, notice, security, document, or communication made, given, passed or executed before or after the appointed day is a reference to the general insurance company:
- (b) Any holder for the time being of a particular office within the Association holds that office within the general insurance company:
- (c) A reference (express or implied) to the holder for the time being of a particular office within the Association in any instrument made, given, passed, or executed before the appointed day is a reference to the person for the time being holding that office in the general insurance company:
- (d) The relationship between the Association or a subsidiary and a customer or reinsurer continues as the same relationship and the same rights and liabilities exist between them as existed immediately before the appointed day, except for—

- (i) Members of the Association becoming shareholders in the holding company; and
- (ii) The cancellation of obligations under premium notes by section 18(2):
- All contracts (including contracts of employment), (e) agreements, conveyances, deeds, leases, licences, securities, and other instruments, undertakings, and notices (whether or not in writing) entered into by, made with, given to or by, or addressed to the Association (whether alone or with any other person) before the appointed day and subsisting immediately before the appointed day are, to the extent that they were previously binding on and enforceable by, against, or in favour of the Association, binding on and enforceable by, against, or in favour of the general insurance company as fully and effectually in every respect as if, instead of the Association, the general insurance company had been the person by whom they were entered into, with whom they were made, or to or by whom they were given or addressed, as the case may be:
- (f) An instruction, order, direction, mandate, or authority given to the Association and subsisting immediately before the appointed day is deemed to have been given to the general insurance company:
- (g) A security held by the Association as security for a debt or other liability to the Association incurred before the appointed day is available to the general insurance company as security for the discharge of that debt or liability and, where the security extends to future or prospective debts or liabilities, is available as security for the discharge of debts or liabilities to the general insurance company incurred on or after the appointed day; and, in relation to a security, the general insurance company is entitled to all the rights and priorities, however they arise, and is subject to all liabilities to which the Association would have been entitled or subject if this Act had not been passed:

- (h) All the rights and liabilities of the Association as bailor or bailee of documents or chattels vest in and are assumed by the general insurance company:
- (i) A negotiable instrument or order for payment of money which, before or on the appointed day, is drawn on or given to or accepted or endorsed by the Association or payable at a place of business of the Association, unless the context otherwise requires, has the same effect on and after the appointed day as if it had been drawn on or given to or accepted or endorsed by the general insurance company instead of the Association or was payable at the place of business of the general insurance company:
- (j) A reference (express or implied) to the Association in any notice or other communication served, given, or sent on or after the appointed day in relation to any instrument or other document subsisting immediately before the appointed day is, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to the general insurance company.

# 18 Effect of this Act

- (1) Nothing effected or authorised by this Act—
  - (a) Places the Association or the general insurance company or any other person in breach of contract or confidence or makes any of them guilty of a civil wrong; or
  - (b) Places the Association or the general insurance company or any other person in breach of—
    - (i) Any enactment or rule of law or contractual provision prohibiting, restricting, or regulating the assignment of property or the disclosure of information; or
    - (ii) The Privacy Act 1993 or any other enactment, rule of law, or contractual provision relating to the collection, use, or disclosure of information; or
  - (c) Releases a surety wholly or in part from an obligation; or
  - (d) Gives rise to a right for a person to—

- (i) Terminate or cancel or modify a contract or agreement; or
- (ii) Enforce or accelerate the performance of an obligation not otherwise arising for performance; or
- (iii) Require the performance of an obligation not otherwise arising for performance; or
- (e) Invalidates or discharges a contract or security; or
- (f) Affects the rights of the general insurance company in respect of a promise, covenant, warranty, or guarantee given to it by a person relating to the liabilities of the Association.
- (2) The obligations of members, if any, in relation to premium notes terminates on the appointed day.
- (3) The general insurance company succeeds to the undertaking of the Association as if it had been the undertaking of the company before the appointed day, and has, and has always had at all material times, full power and authority to conduct the business of the Association as a company under The Companies Act 1993 regardless of any constraints, limitations, requirements for privilege, specified procedures, or incapacities that may have affected the Association under The Mutual Insurance Act 1955 but not a company under The Companies Act 1993.

# 19 Continuity of legal proceedings

- (1) This section applies to—
  - (a) Any action, arbitration, or proceeding, or cause of action, arbitration, or proceeding which, immediately before the appointed day, is pending or existing by, against, or in favour of the Association or to which the Association is a party:
  - (b) Any cause of action, arbitration, or proceeding that arises on or after the appointed day in respect of any contract entered into by the Association or any act done or omitted to be done by or to the Association, as the case may be, before the appointed day that would, but for this Act, be available to, against, or in favour of or to which the Association could have been a party.

(2) Any action, arbitration, or proceeding and any cause of action, arbitration, or proceeding to which this section applies may be prosecuted, and without amendment to any writ, pleading, or other document, continued and enforced by, against, or in favour of the general insurance company to the same extent that it might have been prosecuted, continued, and enforced by, against, or in favour of the Association if this Act had not been passed.

Compare: 1994 No 3 s 6

### 20 Books and documents to remain evidence

- (1) Any document, matter, or thing which, if this Act had not been passed, would have been admissible in evidence in respect of any matter for or against the Association is, on and after the appointed day, admissible in evidence in respect of the same matter for or against the general insurance company.
- (2) In this section, **document** has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of The Evidence Amendment Act (No 2) 1980.

  Compare: 1994 No 3 s 7

# 21 Registers

- (1) No Registrar of Deeds or District Land Registrar or any other person charged with the keeping of any books or registers is obliged solely by reason of this Act to change the name of the Association to that of the general insurance company in those books or registers or in any document.
- (2) The presentation to any Registrar or other person of any instrument (whether or not comprising an instrument of transfer) by the general insurance company—
  - (a) Executed or purporting to be executed by the company; and
  - (b) Relating to any property held immediately before the appointed day by the Association; and
  - (c) Containing a recital that the Association has been reconstituted as the general insurance company by virtue of this Act,—

is, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, sufficient evidence that the property is vested in the general insurance company.

- (3) Without limiting subsection (1) or subsection (2), where any security issued by any person or any rights or interests in property of any person were, immediately before the appointed day, vested in the Association, that person, on presentation of satisfactory evidence of the reconstitution of the Association must, despite any other enactment or rule of law or the provisions of any instrument, register or authorise the registration of the general insurance company as the holder of that security or as the person entitled to such rights or interests, as the case may be.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (3), satisfactory evidence of the reconstitution of the Association includes—
  - (a) A copy of the certificate of incorporation of the general insurance company; and
  - (b) A certificate signed by the chairperson of the general insurance company or by an officer of the general insurance company acting under delegation from the chairperson, stating that the Association has been reconstituted as the general insurance company.
- (5) In subsection (3), **security** has the meaning given in section 2(1) of The Securities Act 1978 as well as the meaning given in section 2 of this Act.
- (6) Apart from this section, this Act does not affect the application of The Land Transfer Act 1952.

Compare: 1994 No 3 s 8

# 22 Continuity of employment

Without limiting the generality of section 10, the following provisions have effect on and after the appointed day in respect of employees of the Association:

(a) On the appointed day each employee of the Association becomes an employee of the holding company and, for the purposes of every enactment, law, award, determination, contract, and agreement relating to the employment of each such employee, the contract of employment of that employee is deemed to have been unbroken and the period of service with the Association is deemed to have been a period of service with the holding company; and

- (b) The terms and conditions of employment of each such employee continue until duly varied; and
- (c) No such employee is entitled to receive any payment or other benefit by reason only of the employee ceasing, by virtue of this Act, to be an employee of the Association.

### 23 Private Act

This Act is a Private Act.

# Schedule 1 Section 13(2) Application to holding company of Companies Act 1993

1

- (1) For the purposes of sections 47 and 49,—
  - (a) Shares or options are issued for cash if the shares or options are issued by way of capitalisation of reserves, distributions, rebates otherwise payable to shareholders, or discounts allowed in relation to transactions by shareholders with a group company:
  - (b) The amount of cash is the amount debited to the relevant reserve distribution, or relevant rebate account and credited in payment of the issue price of the shares.
- (2) Sections 47(6) and 49(4) do not apply to the issue of such shares or options.

2

- Section 53 applies as if for subsection (2) there were substituted the following subsection:
- "(2) Except as provided in the constitution of the company or by the terms of the shares, the board must not authorise a dividend that discriminates among the shares in a class."

3

The Act applies as if for section 54 there were substituted the following section:

# "54 Shares in lieu of dividends

The board may issue shares in lieu of dividends in accordance with the constitution of the company and the terms of the shares that confer an entitlement to payment of dividends."

4

Section 55(2)(b) does not apply.

# Schedule 2

Section 14(2)

# Provisions applying to redemption of shares by holding company

The board of the company must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the company will, immediately after the redemption, satisfy the solvency test.

2

1

The board of the company may, in accordance with the constitution of the company and any applicable terms of issue of the shares, authorise 1 or more redemptions of shares at such time, of such amount, and in respect of such shareholders as the directors think fit.

3

The amount payable to redeem a share must be an amount fixed in accordance with the terms of issue of the share and the constitution of the company.

4

The directors who vote in favour of a redemption must sign a certificate stating that, in their opinion, the company will immediately after the redemption, satisfy the solvency test and the grounds for that opinion.

5

The certificate may be incorporated in the resolution authorising the redemption and may be given by reference to such general categories of redemption, time, amount, price, or other conditions as the directors think fit.

6

If, after a redemption has been authorised and before it has been made, the board ceases to be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the company will, immediately after it is made, satisfy the solvency test, the redemption is deemed not to have been authorised.

7

Section 52(4) of The Companies Act 1993 (which defines the terms **debts** and **liabilities** for the purposes of the solvency test) applies to redemptions under this schedule.

8

A redemption of shares under this schedule is a distribution for the purposes of section 56 of The Companies Act 1993 (which relates to the recovery of unauthorised distributions).

9

The consideration for the redemption of shares under this schedule is an unsecured debt owed by the company to the shareholder payable in accordance with the terms of issue of the shares and the constitution of the company.

10

Shares redeemed under this schedule are deemed to be cancelled immediately on redemption.

11

Shares are redeemed under this schedule when the company would, apart from clause 10, become entitled to exercise the rights attaching to the shares.

12

On the cancellation of a share under this schedule, the rights and privileges attaching to the share expire but without affecting the enforceability of rights relating to the share and existing before the cancellation.

13

The following provisions of The Companies Act 1993 apply, subject to such modifications as may be necessary, to an alteration to the terms of a share, whether or not the terms are contained in the constitution of the company, that materially adversely affect the rights of the holder of the share in relation to redemption or the amount payable on redemption:

- (a) Section 106 (which requires certain powers to be exercised by special resolution):
- (b) Section 107 (which enables consent to be given to certain actions by a company):

(c) Sections 110 to 115 (which relate to the right of a share-holder to require a company to purchase shares).

14

Clause 13 does not apply to an alteration to the terms of issue of a share if the alteration—

- (a) Is made in accordance with the terms of the share and the constitution of the company; and
- (b) Does not unfairly discriminate between shareholders having similar attributes that the board is authorised under the constitution of the company to take into account.

15

Section 117 of The Companies Act 1993 (which prohibits certain action being taken except with the approval of a special resolution of an interest group) does not apply to an alteration to the terms of issue of a share if the alteration—

- (a) Is made in accordance with the terms of the share and the constitution of the company; and
- (b) Does not unfairly discriminate between shareholders having similar attributes that the board is authorised under the constitution of the company to take into account.

16

Every director of the company who fails to comply with clause 4 commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding \$5000.

17

Despite The Summary Proceedings Act 1957, an information for an offence against clause 16 may be laid at any time within 3 years after the date of the offence.

# **Contents**

- 1 General
- 2 About this eprint
- 3 List of amendments incorporated in this eprint (most recent first)

# **Notes**

# 1 General

This is an eprint of the Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998. It incorporates all the amendments to the Farmers' Mutual Group Act 1998 as at 1 April 2008. The list of amendments at the end of these notes specifies all the amendments incorporated into this eprint since 3 September 2007. Relevant provisions of any amending enactments that contain transitional, savings, or application provisions are also included, after the Principal enactment, in chronological order.

# 2 About this eprint

This eprint has not been officialised. For more information about officialisation, please see "Making online legislation official" under "Status of legislation on this site" in the About section of this website.

# 3 List of amendments incorporated in this eprint (most recent first)

Farmers' Mutual Group Act 2007 (2007 No 1 (P)): section 44